No. 909347

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I No: 69668-8

1.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
2.	CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
3.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
discov had be inform Court accrue	The discovery rule provides the statute of limitations does not running until the injured party discovers, or reasonably should have ered the elements of his cause. Steven Hyde did not discover he en tased by a training officer using improper technique until so led by Taser International, Inc., September 30, 2009. Should the of Appeals have found as a matter of law that Steven Hyde's claim d the moment he was injured regardless of when he learned the que used to tase him was improper?
design agent: author Stever service Lake S	RCW 4.28.080(2) provides the mayor of Lake Stevens can ate an agent to accept service of process. Steve Edin, a speaking for Lake Stevens, informed a professional process server that he was ized to accept service of summons and complaint on behalf of Lake is. Should Lake Stevens be allowed to claim insufficiency of the of process where service of process was accepted on behalf of Stevens by a speaking agent of Lake Stevens who represented he athorized to accept service of summons and complaint?
holds a service defens insuffi interro proceed at whi	Lybbert v. Grant Country, 141 Wn.2d 29, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000) a Defendant claiming lack of jurisdiction through insufficiency of e of process cannot "lie in the weeds" and attempt to spring the e after the statute of limitations has run. Lake Stevens claimed ciency of service of process and failed to answer specific gatories asking for the basis of the defense, acting as if it was eding toward trial, until after it felt the statute of limitations had run, the time it for the first time stated Steve Edin was not authorized to service of process. Should Lybbert and waiver operate to deny

	tevens the benefit of an insufficiency of service of process
defense	??
4.	STATEMENT OF CASE
5.	ARGUMENT6
A.	Standard of Review6
he was not lea	It was error for the Court of Appeals to find as a matter of law that Hyde's claim for negligent tasing accrued June 10, 2009, the date tased, where uncontroverted evidence established Steven Hyde did on he was tased using improper technique until September 30,
accept to how the pro	RCW 4.28.080(2) provides a mayor can designate an agent to service of summons and complaint. It does not provide guidance as that designation is to be made. Accordingly, it was reasonable for cess server to rely on the representation of Lake Stevens' speaking that he was authorized to accept service
D. Attemp	Lybbert and Waiver Should Apply to Prevent Lake Stevens' of to Raise an Insufficiency of Process Defense
6.	CONCLUSION20
Append	dix A Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion
	dix B Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration; Order Denying to Publish
Annen	dix C = RCW 4 28 080

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

1000 Virginia Limited Partnership v. Vertecs Corporation, 158 Wn.2d 566, 575-76; 146				
P.3d 423 (2006)7				
<u>Davidheiser v. Pierce County</u> , 92.Wn.App. 146, 960 P.2d 998 (1998)15				
<u>Green v. A.P.C.</u> , 136 Wn.2d 87, 960 P.2d 912 (1998)				
<u>In re Estates of Hibbard</u> , 118 Wn.2d 737, 752, 826 P.2d 690 (1992)				
<u>Lybbert v. Grant Country</u> , 141 Wn.2d 29, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000)				
North Coast Air Services, Ltd. V. Grumman Corporation, 111 Wn.2d 315, 759 P.2d 405				
(1988)				
Ohler v. Tacoma General Hospital, 92 Wn.2d 507, 598 P.2d 1359 (1979)11				
Ruth v Dight, 75 Wn.2d 660, 453 P.2d 631 (1969)				
Ruff v. County of King, 125 Wn.2d 697, 703, 887 P.2d 886 (1995)6				
<u>Sahlie v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp.</u> , 99 Wn.2d 550, 663 P.2d 473 (1983)11				
<u>Shafer v. State</u> , 83 Wn.2d 618, 521 P.2d 736 (1974)16				
<u>Tyson v. Tyson</u> , 107 Wn.2d 72, 727 P.2d 226 (1986)				
Statutes				
RCW 4.16.0058, 9				
RCW 4.16.0808, 9				
RCW 4.28.080(2)				
RCW 4.96.020(4)				

- IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS. Petitioners Steven Hyde and Sandra Brooke are husband and wife. They were plaintiffs in the Superior Court action and appellants in the Court of Appeals.
- 2. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION. The Court of Appeals decision was filed January 21, 2014. A motion for reconsideration was timely filed by Hyde and Brooke; a motion for publication was filed by Lake Stevens. Both motions were denied March 17, 2014. The Court of Appeals decision and orders denying reconsideration and publication are found in Appendices A and B, respectively.

3. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. The discovery rule provides the statute of limitations does not begin running until the injured party discovers, or reasonably should have discovered the elements of his cause. Steven Hyde did not discover he had been tased by a training officer using improper technique until so informed by Taser International, Inc., September 30, 2009. Should the Court of Appeals have found as a matter of law that Steven Hyde's claim accrued the moment he was injured regardless of when he learned the technique used to tase him was improper?
- B. RCW 4.28.080(2) provides the mayor of Lake Stevens can designate an agent to accept service of process. Steve Edin, a speaking agent for Lake Stevens, informed a professional process server that he was

authorized to accept service of summons and complaint on behalf of Lake Stevens. Should Lake Stevens be allowed to claim insufficiency of service of process where service of process was accepted on behalf of Lake Stevens by a speaking agent of Lake Stevens who represented he was authorized to accept service of summons and complaint?

C. <u>Lybbert v. Grant Country</u>, 141 Wn.2d 29, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000) holds a Defendant claiming lack of jurisdiction through insufficiency of service of process cannot "lie in the weeds" and attempt to spring the defense after the statute of limitations has run. Lake Stevens claimed insufficiency of service of process and failed to answer specific interrogatories asking for the basis of the defense, acting as if it was proceeding toward trial, until after it felt the statute of limitations had run, at which time it for the first time stated Steve Edin was not authorized to accept service of process Should <u>Lybbert</u> and waiver operate to deny Lake Stevens the benefit of an insufficiency of service of process defense?

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Plaintiff/Appellant Steven Hyde was a law enforcement officer injured during training with the Lake Stevens police department. CP 164-6. As a part of that training Mr. Hyde was required to endure tasing. CP 164; CP 579.

Mr. Hyde was tased June 11, 2009. Unfortunately, the officer who

tased Mr. Hyde did it in a way which Taser International, Inc., states is not recommended. CP 117. As a result Mr. Hyde suffered injury, leading to four back surgeries and the medical opinion that he probably never again will be able to work. CP 303-17.

Mr. Hyde corresponded by email with Taser International, Inc. about his tasing experience. September 30, 2009, he learned for the first time the training officer had used a technique on him that was not recommended. CP 321-329; CP 165.

Summons and complaint in this case were served November 3, 2010 on Steven Edin, whom Lake Stevens states is its speaking agent and who represented he was authorized to accept service of summons and complaint on behalf of Lake Stevens. CP 79, 137, 513-14. Counsel appeared for Lake Stevens six days later, November 9, 2010. CP 81.

Summons and complaint were filed December 13, 2010. A copy of the summons and complaint with cause number were again served on Steve Edin December 21, 2010. CP 84.

Lake Stevens answered the complaint January 19, 2011. The answer contained the usual litany of affirmative defenses, including insufficiency of service of process, failure to state a claim, immunity, waiver, assumption of risk, contributory negligence, estoppel and release. CP 1013.

Plaintiffs served requests for admission and interrogatories on

Defendant Lake Stevens March 22, 2011, which focused on the affirmative defenses. Request for Admission No. 1 stated: "Admit or deny that Plaintiffs' Complaint was properly served on the City of Lake Stevens."

Lake Stevens answered with a simple denial April 22, 2011. CP 87.

Interrogatory No. 1 stated: "If your response to Request for Admission No. 1 was anything other than an unqualified admission, state all bases for your denial or qualified admission." Lake Stevens refused to answer, making the following objection:

Objection. Unduly burdensome to the extent this interrogatory calls for "all" bases supporting the City's denial. Further objection in that it calls for a legal conclusion and attorney work product privileged information. Without waiving these objections, Defendants respond as follows: Pursuant to CR 33(c), see Defendant's August 20, 2010 response to Hyde's public disclosure request. See attached. This may be supplemented.

CP 92. The attachment referenced was simply the affidavit of service related to the second service of summons and complaint on Steven Edin. No reference was made to the original service, which took place November 3, 2010, after which counsel representing Lake Stevens had already appeared November 9, 2010. No explanation for its inclusion with the interrogatory objection accompanied the attachment. CP 92.

April 29, 2011 Plaintiffs sent a letter to Lake Stevens asking that it withdraw its objection and answer the interrogatory. The letter further asked Lake Stevens to let Plaintiffs know if it was not willing to do so. The letter

was ignored by Lake Stevens. CP 98.

April 18, 2011 Plaintiffs requested a trial date. CP 69. Lake Stevens objected. CP 100. Over Lake Stevens' objection trial was set for January 23, 2012. CP 69. Counsel for Lake Stevens approached Plaintiffs and asked if Plaintiffs would agree to continue the trial to a later date. Plaintiffs agreed, and Lake Stevens obtained a new trial date of October 8, 2012, stating it was not available for trial on an earlier date. CP 69. This new date picked by Lake Stevens was more than 3 years plus 60 days beyond the date of the tasing which injured Mr. Hyde.

Discovery was aggressively pursued over the next year and a half by Lake Stevens. The case generated 9 file folders of discovery pleadings and 6 file folders of general pleadings; 23 depositions were taken. CP 69-76.

August 23, 2012 Lake Stevens served Plaintiffs the summary judgment motion on appeal here. In its motion Lake Stevens for the first time stated Edin was not authorized to accept service. CP 76.

On receipt of the motion, Plaintiffs served Lake Stevens with summons and complaint a third time, serving the city clerk September 4, 2012 and on the mayor of Lake Stevens September 24, 2012. CP 142-3. This service was completed within 3 years of the date Steven Hyde discovered he had been improperly tased.

October 17, 2012 the trial court entered an order granting Defendant

Lake Stevens' motion for summary judgment. Steven Hyde timely filed a motion to reconsider. The court considered all materials submitted by Hyde on reconsideration. It denied the reconsideration motion. CP 1.

Notice of appeal was timely filed. CP 1029-43. The Court of
Appeals affirmed the summary judgment based only on the statute of
limitations in an unpublished opinion. A copy of said unpublished opinion is
attached as Appendix A. A motion for reconsideration was filed; Lake
Stevens moved for publication. Both motions were denied March 17, 2014.
Appendix B contains the orders denying reconsideration and publication.

5. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

Summary judgment is only appropriate if the pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, declarations and admissions reveal there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). In determining whether a genuine issue of fact exists, all evidence and all inferences that can be drawn from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the nonmoving party.

Ruff v. County of King, 125 Wn.2d 697, 703, 887 P.2d 886 (1995).

B. It was error for the Court of Appeals to find as a matter of law that Steven Hyde's claim for negligent tasing accrued June 10, 2009, the date he was tased, where uncontroverted evidence established Steven Hyde did not learn he was tased using improper technique until September 30, 2009.

Longstanding Washington State Supreme Court precedent establishes a person's claim accrues when he "discovers or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have discovered" the salient elements of his cause of action. 1000 Virginia Limited Partnership v. Vertecs Corporation, 158 Wn.2d 566, 575-76; 146 P.3d 423 (2006). The Court of Appeals in its opinion has changed the standard established by the Washington Supreme Court for application of the discovery rule. The Court of Appeals in its opinion states the discovery rule is inapplicable where an individual fails to submit evidence establishing he "could not have discovered" the salient elements of his cause of action sooner. Opinion, p. 1. In contrast the Supreme Court has repeatedly held a claim accrues when a person "discovers or with reasonable diligence should have discovered" the salient elements of his cause of action.

The distinction is significant. By holding the discovery rule does not apply where someone "could have" immediately discovered the cause of injury, the opinion in effect eliminates the discovery rule altogether.

The correct standard is "reasonably should have," not "could have."

Someone always "could" discover the cause of his injury, the question is whether that person "reasonably should have" discovered the salient elements of his cause of action sooner than he did; that is, was there reasonable diligence?

The applicable statute of limitations is three years. RCW 4.16.080. An extra 60 days is added to allow for the required claim period. RCW 4.96.020(4). The statute of limitations does not begin running until a cause of action accrues. RCW 4.16.005. A claim for negligence accrues after the injured party discovers, or reasonably should have discovered, "all the essential elements of the cause of action, specifically duty, breach, causation and damages." In re Estates of Hibbard, 118 Wn.2d 737, 752, 826 P.2d 690 (1992). When an injured party discovers, or should have discovered, the elements of the cause of action is a question of fact for the jury. Green v. A.P.C., 136 Wn.2d 87, 960 P.2d 912 (1998).

Mr. Hyde has testified he first discovered he was tased using improper technique when he received an email September 30, 2009 from Taser International stating the method of application used on him was not recommended. CP 164-5. Whether it was reasonable for him to fail to discover this element of his cause of action sooner than 4 months after the tasing is at most a question of fact for the jury.

The Court of Appeals found as a matter of law accrual in Mr. Hyde's case took place at the moment of injury because he knew both the fact of injury and its cause – tasing. This approach to traumatic injury accrual has been rejected by the Washington State Supreme Court. North Coast Air Services, Ltd. V. Grumman Corporation, 111 Wn.2d 315, 759 P.2d 405

(1988).

North Coast was a products liability action brought following a plane crash. The crash occurred in 1974. The action was filed 12 years later. The plaintiffs were the corporate owner of the airplane, the personal representative of the pilot killed in the crash, and the pilot's father, who was also chief executive officer of the corporate owner.

Investigating authorities attributed the crash to pilot error. The father submitted an affidavit stating investigating authorities had concluded there was no mechanical defect in the plane and that he did not learn otherwise until more than 11 years later.

The father stated that May 6, 1984 he learned of other incidents involving the same model of the plane involving an alleged defect in the elevator control assembly. At that point he realized the 1974 crash may have been caused by the same problem. Only then did he begin an investigation of the crash that killed his son. He stated he located a piece of the plane's wreckage which contained a defective elevator linkage. He had never investigated the crash before despite his position as CEO of North Coast Air Services, Ltd. He "could have" discovered this earlier, and under the new standard described by the Court of Appeals in this case, the discovery rule would not apply. The Supreme Court in North Coast found otherwise.

Grumman Corporation moved for dismissal based on the statute of

limitations. The Supreme Court described Grumman's position as follows:

Thus, defendant reasons that the cause of action accrued at the time of the crash because plaintiff knew the harm (death of the pilot) and its cause (crash of the plane).

<u>Id</u> at 319. The Supreme Court rejected Grumman's position, stating:

At the time of the crash obviously the claimant knew of the harm. Equally obvious is that claimant knew the ostensible cause was the crash. Defendant would have that suffice. For reasons discussed hereafter we hold that the claimant must know or should with due diligence know that the cause in fact was an alleged defect. Whether the claimant knew or should have known will ordinarily be a question of fact. That the causal connection usually is a question of fact is recognized.

<u>Id</u>. Note that in <u>North Coast</u> the plaintiff "could have" discovered the salient elements of his cause of action sooner, but the discovery rule was applied.

The Washington Supreme Court explained the purpose of the statute of limitations in <u>Tyson v. Tyson</u>, 107 Wn.2d 72, 727 P.2d 226 (1986):

Statutes of limitation assist the courts in their pursuit of truth by barring stale claims. A number of evidentiary problems arise from stale claims. As time passes evidence becomes less available.

<u>Id</u>. at 75. The Supreme Court then noted that, to determine whether to apply the discovery rule, the court must balance the risk of stale claims

against the unfairness of precluding justified causes of action. The court stated:

In prior cases where we have applied the discovery rule, there was objective, verifiable evidence of the original wrongful act and the resulting physical injury. This increased the possibility that the fact finder would be able to determine the truth despite the passage of time, and thus diminished the danger of stale claims.

Id. at 76.

The <u>Tyson</u> court gave examples of cases where the discovery rule had been applied. In each case the passage of time before discovery was measured in decades. <u>Ruth v. Dight</u>, 75 Wn.2d 660, 453 P.2d 631 (1969) (discovery 22 years after negligence); <u>Ohler v. Tacoma General Hospital</u>, 92 Wn.2d 507, 598 P.2d 1359 (1979) (products case where discovery was 26 years after date of injury); <u>Sahlie v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp.</u>, 99 Wn.2d 550, 663 P.2d 473 (1983) (accrual of claim delayed more than 40 years by application of discovery rule). Despite the passage of time <u>Tyson</u> found application of the discovery rule appropriate in these cases. The court explained:

Because of the availability and trustworthiness of objective, verifiable evidence in the above cases, the claims were neither speculative nor incapable of proof. Since the evidentiary problems which the statute was designed to prevent did not exist or were reduced, it was reasonable to extend the period for bringing the actions.

Tyson at 77. The court held:

It is proper to apply the discovery rule in cases where the objective nature of the evidence makes it substantially certain that the facts can fairly be determined even though considerable time has passed since the alleged events occurred.

Tyson at 79.

In Steven Hyde's case the balance advocated by the <u>Tyson</u> court between stale claims and the unfairness of precluding justified causes of action favors adoption of the discovery rule in his circumstance. Steven Hyde was tased June 11, 2009. He had surgery in August 2009. September 30, 2009 he learned for the first time the method of taser application may have been negligent. Application of the discovery rule results in accrual of the claim for negligent application of the taser exposure only 46 days after the traumatic event.

A claim was filed with Lake Stevens August 18, 2010. This gave Lake Stevens the notice it needed to investigate and prevent evidence from disappearing. Suit was filed November 2, 2010; counsel for Lake Stevens appeared November 10, 2010 and commenced extensive discovery. Lake Stevens has argued the statute of limitations expired August 10, 2012; it is important to note virtually all discovery in this case had been completed

by that date. CP 69-76. The detailed discovery in Mr. Hyde's case eliminated any possibility of the risk that the claim might become stale. The Tyson balance weighs heavily in favor of application of the discovery rule.

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