Received Washington State Supreme Court

NO. 0/0994-1

MAY 16 2014

Ronald R. Carpenter
Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I NO. 69668-8-I

STEVEN W. HYDE and SANDRA D. BROOKE, husband and wife,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

VS.

CITY OF LAKE STEVENS,

Defendant/Respondent.

CITY OF LAKE STEVENS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brenda L. Bannon, WSBA #17962 Keating, Bucklin & McCormack, Inc. P.S.

800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4141 Seattle, WA 98104-3175

Phone: 206-623-8861

Fax: 206-223-9423

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

C. ISSUE PRESENTED.

Where no RAP 13.4 (d) grounds exist for granting the Petition and Hyde has articulated no grounds, should the Petition be denied?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

In June 2009, Steve Hyde was a provisional training officer who claimed a back injury after being exposed to the Taser weapon during a training exercise. After filing a lawsuit, he twice served the City's Human Resources Director with the summons and complaint instead of serving a statutorily designated individual. The trial court dismissed on summary judgment for lack of jurisdiction based on failure of service of process,

and additional alternative theories.¹ Division One of the Court of Appeals affirmed solely on the basis of failure of jurisdiction based on insufficient service of process. As a matter of law, the statute of limitations extinguished the negligence claim before the City filed its CR 56 Motion to Dismiss. *See Hyde decision*.

On January 21, 2014, the court of appeals filed its decision in the above-captioned case and ordered that it be unpublished. The court of appeals properly affirmed the trial court's order dismissing this personal injury case against Lake Stevens for failure of service of process within the applicable statute of limitations. The court properly rejected arguments of substantial compliance and discovery rule theories. The court properly applied well settled law and held that in order to acquire jurisdiction over a municipal corporation, a plaintiff is required to strictly comply with the statutory requirements to include serving the specific statutory designee. See Hyde decision. No conflict with this Court, divisional split, Constitutional issue, or substantial public interest was argued below. Id.

¹ The court of appeals did not address the additional reasons summary judgment was granted: the plain statutory language of the LEOFF statute (RCW 41.26) demonstrates that a non-commissioned officer is not entitled to sue his employer; LEOFF created no spousal consortium claim; Hyde signed an enforceable liability release one day prior to his Taser training exposure: and the doctrine of express assumption of risk applies where Hyde acknowledged in writing the possibility of the specific physical injury before the Taser training, assumed "all risks," and nonetheless chose to proceed with the Taser application.

In reaching its holding, the court properly rejected unsupported arguments that the discovery rule applied to extend the statute of limitations in this negligence action where Hyde maintained he could not have known that the Taser weapon was used improperly in training until months after his injury was received. *See Hyde decision*.

The court additionally properly rejected arguments that the mere act of participating in substantive discovery waived the assertion of the affirmative defense of insufficiency of process where the defense was timely pled in the City's Answer, and Hyde had over a year and a half to cure the defect. See Hyde decision.

The court of appeals' succinct decision demonstrates the correct application of well-established precedent that is without conflict with decisions in this Court or other appellate divisions.

E. ARGUMENT: GROUNDS FOR DENYING THE PETITION.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4 (d) there are no grounds to accept the petition for review. The court of appeals applied well-settled law regarding service of process on a Municipality, and the discovery rule is inapplicable to Hyde's personal injury case. None of the prerequisites of RAP 13.4 apply to grant review. There is no conflict with this Court's decisions. There is no divisional conflict. There is no Constitutional

question, and there is no issue of substantial public interest. Hyde's Petition articulates no grounds for review.

- 1. THE DECISION PROPERLY APPLIED WELL ESTABLISHED PRINCIPLES OF LAW ABSENT OF CONFLICT, CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION, OR SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.
- a. The Court of Appeals Correctly Held that Failure to Serve the Statutory Designee Resulted in Failed Service and No Jurisdiction as to a Municipal Defendant

Hyde and Brooke's arguments completely ignore decisive, controlling law, thereby requiring an order affirming summary judgment. Washington appellate courts require "strict compliance with the statutory requirements of service of process as a prerequisite to the Court's acquiring jurisdiction over a City." *Meadowdale Neighborhood Committee* v. Edmonds, 27 Wn. App. 261, 267, 616 P.2d 1257 (1980). "When a statute designates a particular person or officer upon whom service of process is to be made in an action against a municipality, no other person or officer may be substituted." *Meadowdale*, 27 Wn. App. at 264.²

Almost thirty years ago, this Court affirmed summary judgment dismissing a suit where plaintiff had erroneously served a summons and complaint on the secretary to the county executive instead of the county auditor. Strict compliance with the mandate of RCW 4.28.080 is required.

² Citing, 56 Am. Jur.2d Municipal Corporations, Counties, and Other Political Subdivisions §854 (2d Ed. 1971), et al.

Nitardy v. Snohomish County, 105 Wn.2d 133, 135, 712 P.2d 296 (1986).

In a later case, the Plaintiff's process server erroneously served the summons and complaint on the County Risk Management Department instead of the statutory designee, the County Auditor. The trial court granted summary judgment. *Davidheiser v. Pierce Co.*, 92 Wn. App. 146, 153-154, 960 P.2d 998 (1998); *rev. den'd*, 137 Wn.2d 1016 (1999). Division Two held that service on the County's Risk Management Department rather than the County Auditor was insufficient; defective service required dismissal. *Id.* The judgment was affirmed. *Id.* at 156.

Over twenty-five years ago, Division One rejected the same argument, holding that service on the administrative assistant to the Attorney General was defective even though the administrative assistant told the process server she was authorized to accept service. *Landreville* v. Shoreline Community College Dist. No. 7, 53 Wn. App. 330, 331-332, 766 P.2d 1107 (1988) (citation omitted). Strict compliance with service of the statutory designee is required to obtain jurisdiction. "When the Legislature has acted reasonably in naming one person or officer to have the responsibility for receiving service of process, service upon anyone else is insufficient." *Id.* "Actual notice [of the lawsuit] standing alone, is not sufficient." *Id.*

Division One also summarily dismissed estoppel arguments based

on the statements the administrative assistant allegedly made to the process server. "In light of the clear language designating the proper recipient for service of process, any reliance upon the process server's statements regarding the administrative assistant's authority was not reasonable." *Landreville*, 53 Wn. App. at 332. The defective service required dismissal; summary judgment was affirmed. *Id*.

This Court agreed with Division One's reliance analysis when it decided *Lybbert v. Grant*, 141 Wn.2d 29, 36-37, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000) ("The *Landreville* case, with which we are in agreement, is particularly illustrative of the point that the Lybberts' reliance was not justifiable.") The Petition should be denied because precedent is in agreement and not conflict: service failed and the trial court lacked jurisdiction.

b. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined that Once a Timely Answer is Filed, the Defense May Engage in Discovery.

The *Hyde* decision properly rejected Petitioner's argument that even if the statute of limitations expired before he made proper service, the City waived the affirmative defense of defective service because, among other things, the City engaged in substantive discovery after filing its Answer asserting the defense. Decision at 8-9. In every lawsuit against a government entity, at the time the affirmative defense of

insufficiency of service of process is raised in an Answer, it is unknown whether the Plaintiff will take steps to cure the defect between the time the Answer is filed and the statute of limitations expires. The defense attorney faces the dilemma of engaging in discovery as the case is proceeding to trial and being accused of "waiver" of the affirmative defense, or allowing the case to remain essentially dormant during the limitations period. Depending upon how close in time to the injury/event the lawsuit was filed, this period of dilemma can be relatively short or unsettlingly long.

In that regard, the present decision provides an excellent application of a settled principle of law that is in accord across all the appellate divisions. Looking back more than twenty years, Washington courts have traditionally held that wavier of the insufficiency of process defense does not occur merely by the act of engaging in substantive discovery. *French v. Gabriel*, 116 Wn.2d 584, 594, 806 P. 2d 1234 (1991). In *Clark v. Falling*, 92 Wn. App. 805, 812-814, 965 P.2d 644 (1998), Division One concluded that once the defense of insufficiency of process is pled in the Answer, the defense attorney may proceed to engage in discovery on the merits without waiving the defense. That same year, Division Two of the Washington Court of Appeals came to a similar conclusion in *Davidheiser v. Pierce County*, 92 Wn. App. 146, 155-156,

960 P.2d 998 (1998), *rev. den'd*, 137 Wn.2d 1016 (1999) (once insufficiency of process is raised as a defense in the Answer, defense counsel is free to engage in discovery on the merits unrelated to the affirmative defense).

This Court's decision in *Lybbert v. Grant County*, 141 Wn.2d 29, 38-45, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000) spawned a close examination of the timing of filing an Answer to alert a Plaintiff of insufficiency of process.³ In the case at bar, Lake Stevens timely filed its Answer before the statute of limitations had expired. In *Lybbert*, the Answer asserting the affirmative defense of insufficiency of service of process was not filed until *after* the statute of limitations had expired. It was in that context that this Court discussed the concept of whether engaging in discovery on the merits can constitute waiver of the affirmative defense. *Id.* at 44.

³ Case law is in accord generally finding waiver when the Answer is filed <u>after</u> the statute of limitations has run, and not finding waiver when the Answer is timely filed before the limitations period has run. E.g., Harvey v. Obermeit, 163 Wn. App. 311, 325, 261 P.3d 671 (Div. I 2011) (finding no waiver: the Answer asserting the affirmative defense of insufficient service of process was timely filed); Meade v. Thomas, 152 Wn. App. 490, 494-95, 217 P.3d 785 (Div. II 2009) (finding no waiver: defendant raised the defense of failure to serve in his Answer filed before the statute of limitations ran); Butler v. Joy, 116 Wn. App. 291, 298, 65 P.3d 671 (Div. III 2003) (finding waiver: Answer asserting the insufficient service of process defense was filed after a summary judgment motion was filed and after the statute of limitations had expired); Blankenship v. Kaldor, 114 Wn. App. 312, 319-20, 57 P.3d 295 (Div. III 2002) (finding waiver: Answer was filed after the statute of limitations had expired); O'Neill v. Farmers, 124 Wn. App. 516, 529, 125 P.3d 134 (Div. I 2004) (finding no waiver: Answer was filed asserting the defense before the statute of limitations expired). See also, 15A Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice: Washington Handbook on Civil Procedure Sect. 4:44, (2013) (discussing cases addressing waiver).

Because Lake Stevens properly and timely filed its Answer in this case, the clarifying distinction made in *Lybbert* is inapplicable. The *Hyde* decision followed longstanding precedent that makes clear once the affirmative defense of defective service is timely pled in the Answer, the defendant may engage in substantive discovery without waiving the defense. The *Hyde* decision is consistent with this Court's analysis: Engaging in discovery is not, by itself, "tantamount to conduct inconsistent with a later assertion of the defense." *Lybbert*, 141 Wn.2d at 41. The absence of conflict in appellate courts, Constitutional question, or substantial public interest requires denying the Petition.

c. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied the Rule of Law Pertaining to the Discovery Rule in Ordinary Personal Injury Cases.

The *Hyde* decision begins with: "When a plaintiff brings a suit for injury caused by negligent use of a weapon and he fails to show that he could not have immediately discovered that this was a possible cause of his injury, the statute of limitations began to run from the date of the injury." Decision at 1. The court of appeals properly applied harmonious Washington precedent to reject Hyde's argument that the discovery rule applies to extend the statute of limitations where a plaintiff claims that a training tool was negligently used and caused personal injury.

The Hyde decision correctly applied the fundamental premise of tort law that the three year statute of limitations applies to personal injury claims allegedly caused by negligence.⁴ In a traditional negligence case such as the case at bar, the statute of limitations begins to run at the time of injury whether or not the litigant is aware of the particular legal basis or theories for negligence. "In personal injury actions, the cause of action ordinarily accrues when the injury is suffered, since it usually coincides with the defendant's negligent act and the plaintiff's awareness of injury." 16 Wash. Prac., Tort Law and Practice § 9.2 (3rd ed.). Hyde and Brooke's arguments to the contrary are legally erroneous. See e.g., In re Estates of Hibbard, 118 P.2d 737, 744, 826 P.2d 690 (1992) ("The general rule in ordinary personal injury actions is that a cause of action accrues at the time the act or omission occurs."); Clare v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 129 Wn. App. 599, 602-03, 123 P.3d 465 (2005), rev. den'd, 155 Wn.2d 1012 (2005)("Generally, accrual of the statute of limitations begins at the time the act or omission causing the tort injury occurs").⁵

4

⁴ RCW 4.16.080(2).

⁵ See also, Hamilton v. Arriola Bros., 85 Wn. App. 207, 211, 931 P.2d 925 (Div. III 1997) (discovery rule is the exception to the general rule in ordinary personal injury case that the cause of action accrues at the time the act or omission occurs); Cox v. Oasis Physical Therapy, PLLC, 153 Wn. App. 176, 190, 222 P.3d 119 (Div. III 2009) (trial court properly found that cause of action accrued at time of injury and was barred by statute of limitations).

By contrast, the discovery rule is a limited exception to the general accrual rule, and may apply where "...injured parties do not, or cannot, know they have been injured." *Estates of Hibbard* at 744, 749. "Application of the rule is limited to claims in which the plaintiffs could not have immediately known of their injuries due to professional malpractice, occupational diseases, self-reporting, or concealment of information by the defendant." *Id.* at 749-50. "The key consideration under the discovery rule is the factual, as opposed to the legal, basis of the cause of action." *Cox v. Oasis Physical Therapy, PLLC*, 153 Wn. App. 176, 190, 222 P.3d 119 (2009), *citing, Adcox v. Children's Orth. Hosp. & Med. Ctr.*, 123 Wn.2d 15, 35, 864 P.2d 921 (1993).

Hyde's reference to a contract case decided by this Court provides no different result. Pet. at 7. 1000 Virginia Ltd. Pship. v. VERTECS, 158 Wn.2d 566, 146 P.3d 423 (2006). This Court emphasized that application of the discovery rule "does not mean that the action accrues when the plaintiff learns that he or she has a legal cause of action; rather, the action accrues when the plaintiff discovers the salient facts underlying the elements of the cause of action." Id at 576 (citation omitted).

The *Hyde* decision aptly follows Washington Supreme Court precedent generally addressing the discovery rule in products liability

contexts, and analyzing why those cases are distinguishable;⁶ the earlier cases provide the agreed principals for rejecting Hyde's argument regarding factual knowledge of the injury but only later knowledge of a legal theory that the training device may have been negligently applied.

The *Hyde* decision in this factual context applies earlier precedent: "[t]he plaintiff bears the burden of proving that the facts constituting the claim were not and could not have been discovered by due diligence within the applicable limitations period." *E.g., Clare,* 129 Wn. App. at 603.⁷ The *Hyde* decision affirmatively answers this question consistent with prior precedent. Inasmuch as the decision applies earlier harmonious precedent to Hyde's fact pattern without creating any conflict in law, or addressing a Constitutional question or matter of substantial public interest, the Petition should be denied.

F. CONCLUSION.

The court of appeals' decision in *Hyde* properly applied well-established precedent to undisputed facts and properly refused to apply the discovery rule to a run of the mill personal injury case. Because the decision does not present a conflict with this Court's precedent, there is no

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